
 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               1 
 

Planning Commission Meeting 
Location:  Novato City Hall, 901 Sherman Avenue 

 
November 11, 2019  

MINUTES 
 
Present:  Justin Derby, Chair  

David Gabriel, Vice Chair 
   Dan Dawson  
   Reva Rao 

Peter Tiernan 
Thomas Weldon 

       
Absent:  Susan Wernick 
    
Staff Present:    Steve Marshall, Planning Manager  

Brett Walker, Senior Planner 
Veronica Nebb, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

 
CALL TO ORDER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE / ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA:  No changes to the proposed agenda. 
Motion/Second: Tiernan/Gabriel to approve final agenda. Motion passed 6-0-0-1 
(Ayes: Tiernan, Gabriel, Dawson, Rao, Weldon, and Derby; Nays: None; Abstain: 
None; Absent: Wernick). 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:  None  
 

CONSENT CALENDAR:  None 
 
CONTINUED ITEMS:  None 

 
NEW ITEMS:  
 
1. DOWNTOWN CENTER PAD BUILDING AND DRIVE-THROUGH 

FILE P2018-033: USE PERMIT, GENERAL PLAN MAP 
AMENDMENT, ZONING MAP AMENDMENT, DESIGN REVIEW 
APPROVAL, AND CEQA EXEMPTION SECTIONS 15061(b)(3), 
15303, AND 15332; APN 141-201-54, 1727 GRANT AVE (7TH STREET 
FRONTAGE SOUTH OF CVS) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

922 Machin Ave 
Novato, CA 94945 

415/899-8900 
FAX 415/899-8213 

novato.org 
 
 

Mayor 
Eric Lucan 

 
Mayor Pro Tem 
Denise Athas 

 
Councilmembers 

Pam Drew 
Pat Eklund 

 
Acting City Manager 

Adam McGill 
 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               2 
 

Hold a public hearing to consider and adopt: 
(1) A Resolution of the Planning Commission recommending the City Council adopt an 

exemption pursuant to CEQA Guidelines sections 15061(b)(3)m 15303, and 15332; 
(2) A Resolution of the Planning Commission recommending the City Council adopt a general 

plan map amendment to change the land use designation from Parkland (P) to 
Neighborhood Commercial (CN); 

(3) A Resolution of the Planning Commission recommending the City Council adopt a zoning 
map amendment (rezone) to change the zoning classification from Parkland (PL) to 
Neighborhood Commercial (CN); 

(4) A Resolution of the Planning Commission recommending the City Council approve a use 
permit for a drive-through facility; and 

(5) A Resolution of the Planning Commission recommending the City Council approve the 
design review for a 3,370-square foot commercial building. 
 

Senior Planner Brett Walker presented the staff report. 
 
Property owner Michael Mossman of Novato Center Owner, LLC (“Michael Mossman”) gave 
a presentation on the project details and noted what improvements have been made to the site.  
The owner has agreed to hold the Farmer’s Market in the back parking lot for the past 2 years 
due to vacancies in the center.  The vacancies will be coming to an end soon and the owner 
will determine if the Farmer’s Market can be held in the front parking area. 
 
Commissioner Gabriel asked if the 3,300 sf is a build to suit or spec build.   
 
Michael Mossman answered that it will be a spec build, as they do not have a tenant yet. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan noted that as a citizen he appreciates having the Farmer’s Market in 
this location and hopefully it will remain somewhere in the shopping center.  Inquired if the 
oak trees along 7th Street will remain, as well as the pathway. Also noted that the creek is 
looking shabby and asked who is responsible for taking care of it. 
 
Michael Mossman responded the oak trees will remain and the pathway is on the public park 
property.  He believes the responsibility for the creek is with either the City or County Flood 
Control District. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan noted the owner should ensure trash is kept cleaned up. He asked if 
they would have any new signage. 
 
Michael Mossman stated they do have maintenance service 7-days a week to ensure the site is 
kept litter free.  He noted that no new signage is proposed. Monument signs were installed a 
year ago and those may be used. 
 
Commissioner Weldon inquired if there is a concern that a spec-built fast food restaurant would 
not fit with their corporate theme. And inquired since there are vacancies in the center, why 
would you add more square footage.  
 
 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               3 
 

 
Michael Mossman answered that most tenants will adapt to the building for quicker occupancy 
and then work with the tenant and City for any design changes.  They resolved the large space 
occupancy and there is interest in the old Subway space. 
 
Commissioner Weldon asked if the applicant has other comparable projects in their portfolio 
they have brought to market. 
 
Michael Mossman answered that they have a number of shopping centers in southern California 
and a couple others in the Bay Area, a Walnut Creek Center.  In the retail market trend, they 
have divided up larger units to suit the tenants.  
 
Public comment period opened. 
 
Regina Bianucci Rus expressed opposition to the project.  She feels that a drive-through next 
to park is an issue.  She also noted that traffic is another issue at that intersection and feels 
people exiting from the Center would be hazardous. 
 
Public comment period closed. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan requested staff discuss the traffic analysis provided. 
 
Senior Planner Walker stated the greenhouse gas emissions and air quality analyses looked at 
traffic generation and idling for the drive-though and the emissions are below the threshold 
established by the Air Quality District. City Public Works and Engineering reviewed the 
analysis, which did not trigger a threshold to upgrade the nearby intersections or raise any 
traffic levels inconsistent with the General Plan. 
 
Chair Derby noted that safety is a legitimate concern and typically a specific traffic study is 
done and asked if anything is planned for safety improvements. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall stated that there is no change in circulation for exiting the center. 
These projects are submitted to Public Works for their comment and none was received for this 
project indicating no improvements were needed.  The landscaping is kept low for good sight 
distance and there is a wide shoulder through this area of 7th Street. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan supports the project though expressed that he is concerned with litter in 
the area. 
 
Senior Planner Walker stated the Commission could consider adding a condition regarding 
daily litter removal at the site.  Although he was not sure the City can require the Center to be 
responsible for the creek area. 
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Nebb noted that a nexus may be established within a certain 
criteria.   
 
 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               4 
 

Senior Planner Walker said that the City owns the park and there is an easement in favor of the 
Marin County Flood Control District. 
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Nebb said she was not sure who would be responsible for litter 
removal in the Creek. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan said perhaps this could be looked at when the matter goes to Council.  
He questioned if there are other policies such as ban on styrene and plastic bags. 
 
Senior Planner Walker noted the City has a plastic bag ban.  The State did enact a plastic straw 
ban on January 1, 2019.  Regarding single-use plastic food items, Marin County is looking at 
an ordinance regarding a ban and the City may wait to see what Marin County does so there is 
continuity amongst all the cities. 
 
Commissioner Weldon stated the drive-through in close proximity to a public open space is an 
issue.  Chapter 4 of the General Plan promotes parks, cultural facilities, healthy eating, active 
living and believes a fast food drive-through is pretty low on most residents list of what to go 
in there.  
 
Commissioner Rao supports new businesses in the City although has concerns with the traffic, 
as compared to an In and Out restaurant model.  In peak hours on the burger line, it extends all 
the way to the highway.  She stated that 7th Street gets busy and a lot of kids use that lane and 
would like to understand what the impacts of any fast food restaurant would be there. 
 
Chair Derby inquired as to why some of the resolutions are being proposed. 
 
Senior Planner Walker answered that the General Plan Amendment and Rezone were due to a 
past mapping error.  If no mapping error existed, there would be 3 recommendations before 
you, the CEQA determination, the Use Permit for the drive-through facility, and Design 
Review component. 
 
Chair Derby asked why the use was not called out with the hours of operation, i.e., a coffee 
shop would be very different than a McDonald’s restaurant. 
 
Senior Planner Walker stated the applicant does not have a tenant so it is proposed as a spec 
build. The project was reviewed with an anticipated level of use looking at the air quality study 
with a portion of it as a drive-through and a portion as a sit-down restaurant.   
 
Planning Manager Marshall explained a traffic analysis in a land use setting, uses are not 
evaluated individually – a Target is not evaluated differently from a Walmart. They are all part 
of a general class of uses, i.e., big box retail or fast-food restaurants, and trip generation rates 
are assigned. Each class of use is treated similarly.  He noted that if the Commission is not 
comfortable in making a decision in the absence of a traffic study, it is within the Commission’s 
purview to request additional analysis. 
 
Chair Derby asked if the Design Review Commission was concerned about the drive-through 
being next to the public path. 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               5 
 

 
Senior Planner Walker answered that the project first went to the Design Review Commission 
in February 2019 and they expressed concern with the drive-through and proximity to the 
public path.  They suggested that the applicant and architect come back for a workshop and 
discuss alternatives to the site layout and reduce the impacts. They came back in March 2019 
and sketched several options for a better layout and then formed a subcommittee to further look 
at site layouts. Changes were made to the outdoor space and landscaping and at the DRC 
meeting in August, the Design Review Commission approved of the changes. 
 
Chair Derby expressed his concerns that the project was designed before the land use was 
approved and possibly not a good use having a drive-through next to a public park. 
 
Michael Mossman explained that the future tenant use will not be an In and Out or Chick-fil-
A as they require 5,000 sq. ft. buildings and more customer parking.  There is a masonry wall 
proposed to provide a barrier and pedestrian protection, as well as a landscaping visual barrier.  
An architectural detail to break up the visual impact has also been added.   
 
Commissioner Tiernan asked if the data from the GHG analysis can be used for the traffic 
study. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall answered that the Commission may be requesting a traffic study 
prepared by a traffic engineer with a level of service and am/pm breakdown. 
 
Commissioner Rao inquired what tenants you studied to possibly go into this space. 
 
Michael Mossman said that they are hoping the tenant would be someone unique, a new 
generation of drive-through offering. 
 
Commissioner Dawson noted that in a shopping center of this size, the change is pretty small. 
Not knowing what tenant is going in, and though you may be able to make some assumptions 
for a drive-through, someone will need to be retained to prepare an analysis. 
 
Commissioner Gabriel stated that we would be more comfortable if we narrowed the scope 
down to see what the tenant would go in here. 
 
Michael Mossman said they wished they had an answer as to who was going in here but they 
would like a unique, smaller business that the community will enjoy frequenting and the 
business would be successful. 
 
Commissioner Dawson asked if the Use Permit approval is what is tied to the drive-through.  
Is there a way to add a condition after the tenant is identified, that they come back for review? 
 

  



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               6 
 

Chair Derby stated that there is a reason we brought up the traffic and safety in the center 
although he was reassured with the work done through the Design Review Commission and 
changes made with the wall. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan noted that he was ready to proceed with a motion on the resolutions. 
 
Motion/Second:  Tiernan/Gabriel to adopt the CEQA Resolution.  Motion passed:  5-1-0-1 
(Ayes:  Tiernan, Rao, Gabriel, Dawson, and Derby; Nays: Weldon; Abstain: None; Absent: 
Wernick).   
 
Motion/Second:  Tiernan/Dawson to adopt the GPA Resolution.  Motion passed:  5-1-0-1 
(Ayes:  Tiernan, Rao, Gabriel, Dawson, and Derby; Nays: Weldon; Abstain: None; Absent: 
Wernick).   
 
Motion/Second:  Dawson/Tiernan to adopt the Rezone Resolution.  Motion passed:  6-0-0-1 
(Ayes:  Tiernan, Rao, Gabriel, Dawson, Weldon, and Derby; Nays: None; Abstain: None; 
Absent: Wernick).    
 
Motion/Second:  Tiernan/Gabriel to adopt the Use Permit Resolution.  Motion failed:   1-5-0-
1 (Ayes:  Tiernan; Nays: Rao, Gabriel, Dawson, and Derby, and Weldon; Abstain: None; 
Absent: Wernick).   
 
Motion/Second:  Dawson/Gabriel to adopt the Design Review Resolution with a condition to 
delete the drive-through from the design.  Motion passed:  6-0-0-1 (Ayes:  Tiernan, Rao, 
Gabriel, Dawson, Weldon, and Derby; Nays: None; Abstain: None; Absent: Wernick).   
  

GENERAL BUSINESS:   
 

2. HOMEWARD BOUND OF MARIN - GROUND LEASE (SM) 
GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY REPORT 
HUD PARCEL AT HAMILTON FIELD; APN 157-970-07 
 
Adopt a resolution reporting to the City Council that entering into a ground lease with 
Homeward Bound of Marin for potential use of the “HUD Parcel” at Hamilton Field for 
supportive housing, a manufacturing kitchen, and a special events space is consistent with the 
1996 Novato General Plan. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall presented the staff report.   
 
Commissioner Rao asked why the term is for a length of 55 years. 
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Nebb answered that the term is to provide enough time to 
develop the project, capitalize it, and to prevent crossing over into requiring an ordinance and 
higher scrutiny. 
 
 
 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               7 
 

Mary Kay Sweeney and Paul Fordham of Homeward Bound expressed their thanks to 
supporters and are thrilled to complete the project to end veterans homelessness in the 
community and County.   
 
Paul Fordham stated that 11 years ago they opened the Next Key Center adjacent to the HUD 
parcel and were very successful in creating jobs, employed 63 people, and with completing 
this project, we can help more people and it seems an appropriate use, in a former military 
base to help veterans on Veteran’s Day. 
 
Public comment period opened. 
 
Carol Mills, District Representative of Senator Mike Maguire, expressed their honor and 
pride to work with Homeward Bound, City of Novato, County of Marin, and Marin County 
Veteran’s Services on this project to find a solution to veteran’s homelessness. They are 
grateful to Homeward Bound and the City of Novato and thrilled for this opportunity to make 
a positive difference in the lives of men and women who have given so much to this Country.  
Carol stated that she and Senator Maguire urge the Commission to move this project forward. 
 
Public comment period closed.  
 
Commissioner Tiernan said that he wholeheartedly supports the project and Homeward 
Bound is an excellent neighbor and during the planning process hope the Hamilton neighbors 
will be brought in to see the site. 
 
Commissioner Rao noted that she was at the site during the District 5 election debates and 
saw their amazing vegetable garden and glad the Homeward Bound and the City has an 
opportunity to bring down veterans homelessness and build a sustainable society that will 
continue to support that. 
 
Motion/Second:  Tiernan/Dawson to adopt a resolution reporting to the City Council that 
entering into a ground lease with Homeward Bound of Marin for potential use of the “HUD 
Parcel” at Hamilton Field is consistent with the 1996 Novato General Plan.  Motion passed:  6-
0-0-1 (Ayes:  Tiernan, Gabriel, Rao, Weldon, Dawson, and Derby; Nays: None; Abstain: None; 
Absent: Wernick).   
 

3. MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT (SM) 
GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY REPORT 
600 RUSH LANDING ROAD; APN 125-560-01 

 
Adopt a resolution reporting to the Marin County Transit District that its proposed acquisition 
and prospective use of the property at 600 Rush Landing Road as a bus fleet parking facility 
and office is consistent with the 1996 Novato General Plan. 

  
Planning Manager Marshall presented the staff report. 
 
Nancy Whelan of the Marin Transit District thanked staff for their work.  This project is 
important to Novato as well.  The buses serve the students here in Novato and provide tickets 
to Homeward Bound clients who use their services. 



 

PC Minutes 2019-11-11                                               8 
 

 
Motion/Second:  Tiernan/Weldon to adopt a resolution reporting to the Marin County Transit 
District that its proposed acquisition and prospective use of the property at 600 Rush Landing 
Road as a bus fleet parking facility and office is consistent with the 1996 Novato General Plan.  
Motion passed:  6-0-0-1 (Ayes:  Tiernan, Gabriel, Rao, Weldon, Dawson, and Derby; Nays: 
None; Abstain: None; Absent: Wernick).   

 
UPCOMING AGENDAS AND QUORUMS:  Planning Manager Marshall discussed future 
meeting schedules. 

ADJOURNMENT:  The Meeting adjourned at 8:40 pm. 


